

Unitaid Executive Board Meeting 33rd Session 20-21 November 2019 The Forum Global Health Campus Geneva, Switzerland

Agenda item 2

# Minutes of the 32nd Session of the Executive Board (EB32) (19-20 June 2019)

Seoul, South Korea

For Information 🗌 For Review and Advice 🗌 For Approval 🖂

# Table of Contents

Executive Summary	.3
1. Opening session	.4
2. Introductory remarks and adoption of the EB32 agenda	.4
3. Minutes from previous meetings	.4
4. Report from the Executive Director	.4
5. Report from the Chair of the Proposals Review Committee	. 5
6. Report from the Finance and Accountability Committee	. 5
7. Midterm review of the implementation of the strategy	.6
8. Case for consideration: Chagas disease	.7
9. Portfolio Performance	. 7
10. Restricted session on Governance Issues	. 8
11. Any Other Business	. 8
12. Election of the Vice-Chair of the Executive Board and welcoming the new Board Chair	.9
13. Closure of the Executive Board meeting	.9
List of Participants	10

# **Executive Summary**

- The meeting began with a keynote speech from the Vice-Minister of the Ministry of Health and Welfare of the Republic of Korea, and welcome remarks by the Deputy Minister for Multilateral and Global Affairs of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs.
- Minutes of the 30th meeting Board and 31st Special Session of the Executive Board were adopted (UNITAID/EB32/2019/2 and UNITAID/EB32/2019/3).
- The Executive Director updated the Board on the global health landscape within which Unitaid operates and which shapes its interventions (UNITAID/EB32/2019/4).
- The Chair of the Project Review Committee reported on the committee's recent work and its reflections on the Midterm Strategy Review.
- Decisions relating to the financial performance for 2018 (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R1), liquidity policy (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R2) and foreign exchange risk mitigation policy (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R3) were adopted.
- The outcome of the Midterm Strategy Review concluded that the 2017-2021 Strategy remains valid, and that Unitaid should continue to focus its work on innovation and access in the three disease areas but should explore carefully opportunities in adjacent areas and new technologies (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R4).
- No immediate conclusion was reached on the case for consideration for Chagas disease. The Executive Board agreed to reconvene to further consider this matter in the coming weeks.
- The positive portfolio performance was welcomed by the Board, including efforts for continual operational improvements.
- High-level principles to guide future discussions on expansion of Unitaid's governance structure and resource mobilisation were adopted (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R9).
- Revised terms of reference for the Finance and Accountability Committee and the Policy and Strategy Committee were adopted (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R5).
- Meeting dates for 2019 and for 2020 were adopted (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R6).
- Maria Luisa Escorel De Moraes was elected as the new Vice-chair of the Board (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R7).
- And finally, the Board adopted a vote of thanks to Marta Maurás Pérez, the outgoing Chair, and welcomed the new Chair, Marisol Touraine (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R8).

# **1. Opening session**

The keynote speech by Mr Kim Ganglip, Vice-Minister of the Ministry of Health and Welfare of the Republic of Korea, highlighted recent achievements including a 5-year action plan for the prevention and control of HIV/AIDS, and actions for early interventions, testing and treatment for malaria.

His comments were reinforced in the welcome remarks from Mr Kang Jeong-sik, Deputy Minister for Multilateral and Global Affairs of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, who emphasised his country's commitment to the work of Unitaid in kick-starting innovation and increasing access to nextgeneration diagnostics and new treatments. In this context, the Board welcomed the signature of a Memorandum of Understanding between Republic of Korea and Unitaid that will see a 25% increase in current funding for 2019-2021.

# 2. Introductory remarks and adoption of the EB32 agenda

The Board adopted the agenda of the meeting (UNITAID/EB32/2019/1/REV2).

# 3. Minutes from previous meetings

The Board adopted the minutes of the 30th Executive Board meeting of 5-6 December 2018 (UNITAID/EB32/2019/2) and of the 31st Special Session of 28 May 2019 (UNITAID/EB32/2019/3).

# **4. Report from the Executive Director**

The Executive Director complemented his detailed report (UNITAID/EB32/2019/4) by addressing the global health landscape in which Unitaid operates and shapes its interventions.

Key evolutions over the past 5 years included the evolution from government-centric to multistakeholder approaches; move from donor-driven agendas to national strategies based on clear needs; and the development of more objective performance-based global health spending.

Unitaid has aligned with these in a number of ways. The first is the move from a vertical disease approach to a more holistic approach, with opportunities for more horizontal and transversal gains. The second is the political focus on universal health coverage as part of the Sustainable Development Goal 'SDG 3', which has also brought an emphasis on primary health care as a functional objective. The third is the urgency for improved efficient coordination of responses to global health issues, not only at the UN inter-agency level but involving all stakeholders.

The challenge of anti-microbial resistance (AMR) was a good example of this, in which Unitaid is now playing an important strategy role though the Interagency Coordination Group on Antimicrobial Resistance and at an operational level with 65% of its portfolio now addressing AMR. It was noted that Unitaid is invited to be part of the June 2019 G20 meeting, hosted by the Japanese government, which has global health as a central theme.

The Executive Director reiterated that while Unitaid is working to be a more holistic and systemic solutions-focused organisation, it will not lose focus on the fight against the three disease areas at the core of its mission.

Issues raised by Board members included the importance of increasing the number of quality proposals from implementers from Southern hemisphere proponents, as well as the importance of encouraging a greater role for civil society, WHO and country coordinating mechanisms.

# 5. Report from the Chair of the Proposals Review Committee

The report from the Proposals Review Committee (PRC) focused on its work relating to specific grant development proposals and input to the Board's Midterm Strategy Review.

Two major grant agreement development packages were reviewed during the first half of 2019, relating to better tools for the diagnosis and treatment of Plasmodium vivax malaria, and accelerating impact of long-acting technologies in low- and middle-income countries. It was noted that e-votes for these proposals will be launched after the Board meeting. It was noted that efforts to improve planning and coordination has led to shorter grant agreement development (GAD) review timelines.

Turning to the Midterm Strategy Review, the Chair of the PRC highlighted some potential areas the Committee had identified where Unitaid's engagement or increased attention could add value. These included digital health technologies, help for countries in selecting the right technologies, addressing market failures especially for paediatric medicines, and addressing wider issues relating to access.

The Board also considered the need to revise the current composition of the Committee to add expertise in community engagement and intellectual property issues to ensure that the PRC is equipped for the range of proposals that it is asked to assess.

# 6. Report from the Finance and Accountability Committee

The Board noted the report from 22nd meeting of the Finance and Accountability Committee, and its recommendations (UNITAID/EB32/2019/5).

a) Financial performance 2018

The Board adopted the audited financial statements for 2018 (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R1). The Board noted that a clean audit opinion from external auditors was received for 2018, including on progress on actions from outstanding recommendations made in past audits. There were three recommendations for the 2018 audit, all of which relate to grant management and are already in process and should be closed by the end of the year.

b) Liquidity policy and Foreign exchange risk mitigation policy

The Board adopted a Liquidity policy (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R2) and a Foreign exchange risk mitigation policy (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R3).

The policies to set out an agreed approach to ensuring appropriate cash balances to cover expected disbursements and operating expenses, as well as approved options for mitigating foreign exchange risks given that Unitaid expenses are made in USD and CHF, whilst its contributions are received in a range of other currencies.

c) Outcome of Joint Finance and Accountability Committee and Policy and Strategy Committee session

The Board noted the minutes of the 11 April 2019 joint meeting of the FAC and PSC committees (UNITAID/EB32/2019/7). It noted the recent risk management work and the assurances following an external audit that controls in place are operating effectively. Internal review processes are in place to ensure active monitoring by the FAC.

Some opportunities were identified to further refine the processes relating to Areas for Interventions, Calls for Proposals and Grant Agreement Development. These will be actioned in 2019 and monitored by the FAC and PSC, as well as being addressed as part of the Midterm Strategy Review discussions.

# 7. Midterm review of the implementation of the strategy

d) Key findings from the Midterm Strategy Review

The Board acknowledged the preparatory work undertaken by the PSC to contribute towards the Midterm Strategy Review, and the discussions of the PSC workshop held on 28 May 2019, and adopted the minutes from the Policy and Strategy Committee meeting held on 10 April 2019 (UNITAID/EB32/2019/8/Minutes).

Finally, Board endorsed the following conclusions from the midterm review of the Unitaid Strategy 2017-2021:

- The 2017-2021 Strategy remains valid based on the midterm review.
- Unitaid should continue to focus its work on innovation and access in within its mandate (malaria, tuberculosis, HIV and coinfections, RMNCAH and AMR), but should carefully explore opportunities in adjacent areas and new technologies.
- The organisation has developed a robust operating model that is fit for purpose, thorough and systematic. Questions were asked on whether any opportunities had been missed because of lack of adaptability or flexibility of the model, and this should be considered during the remaining years of the Strategy and ahead of the Strategy from 2022. The possibility to consider new approaches for exceptional opportunities was supported when warranted.
- The Board recommended that the secretariat continue to pursue improvements in the scalability model. Reinforcing the importance of partnerships, the Board recommended strengthening existing partnerships and exploring new partnerships to maximize the scalability and impact of Unitaid investments. Increasing engagement with civil society is

seen as a key element of achieving this. The Board also called for the development of a framework for country engagements.

The Board adopted the report of the midterm strategy review (UNITAID/EB32/2019/10) and affirmed in its Resolution that Unitaid is on track to deliver on its Strategy and to create greater impact for the global health response (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R4).

There was also reflection on the place of Unitaid in the broader global health response, especially in areas where innovation is key and the assessment of opportunities that may fit and align with our expertise and represent potential, even if they do not fall directly in our current mandate. The Secretariat is currently assessing future areas for exploration and in parallel considering if it is warranted to have a limited proportion of portfolio for new approaches in innovation. This will be discussed at the next meeting of the PSC on 15 October 2019.

# 8. Case for consideration: Chagas disease

Part of the discussions on the Midterm Strategy Review include the exploration of new opportunities to apply Unitaid's expertise, including the potential relevance for Chagas disease as a case for consideration (Case for consideration – Chagas disease, UNITAID/EB32/2019/11).

The Unitaid Secretariat undertook a high-level exploration of neglected tropical diseases (NTDs), following the request from the Board in March 2016 to associate the Midterm Strategy Review with a review of NTDs. Multiple specific NTDs were reviewed at a high level, in particular those accounting for the higher mortality burdens. Chagas disease was selected by the secretariat as a case for consideration based on analysis of increased global interest and funding commitments, the promising development pipeline for better diagnostic tools and treatment, and the low access rates for patients in endemic countries.

The Board members had substantive discussions on the Chagas disease case. While there was broad support from many Board members, no immediate conclusion was reached on the case for consideration. Questions were raised by some members on the comparison with alternative investment opportunities, implications for the organization's operating model and the overall 'fit' with Unitaid's mission and Constitution.

It was agreed that the Chair will organize a call with a view to arriving at a consensus and that the Board will reconvene on this matter in the coming weeks.

# 9. Portfolio performance

Unitaid has a diverse portfolio of 48 grants, with 63 formulations, medicines, diagnostics and other tools being supported working through 35 grant implementers worldwide, representing some US\$1.3 billion of investments (Unitaid Portfolio Performance, UNITAID/EB32/2019/12).

A selection of specific cases was presented to demonstrate the public health impact of the innovations supported by Unitaid. These included: investments in seasonal malaria

chemoprevention that are expected to avert some 81 million cases, saving an estimated 356,000 lives; innovative vector control through 'next generation' indoor residual spraying that is protecting 76 million people in 28 countries; as well as multiple actions to accelerate patient access to optimal antiretroviral treatments, including key scientific research that changed global treatment guidelines and flagship price reductions leading to wider access in low- and middle-income countries, where over 22 million people are now under antiretroviral treatment.

Against this background, the Board noted the positive performance assessment of the ongoing investments with 82% of all projects either on track or exceeding targets. The Board welcomed the overall positive outcome of key performance indicators for 2018, resulting in effective project implementation, generation of evidence for scale-up and success in reaching people with quality innovative products. The Board also acknowledged efforts for continual operational improvements in areas such as risk management, partnership engagement and performance management.

# **10. Restricted session on Governance Issues**

The following items were adopted in the open part of the meeting:

a) Unitaid Board Evolution

High-level principles were agreed to guide future discussions on expansion of Unitaid's governance structure and resource mobilization (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R9).

b) Updated terms of reference for the Finance and Accountability Committee and Policy and Strategy Committee

The Board approved new terms of reference for the FAC and PSC (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R5).

c) Meeting dates 2019 and 2020

The Board adopted the calendar of meeting dates for 2019 and 2020 (UNITAID/2019/EB32/R6).

#### **11. Any Other Business**

There was no other business raised for the Board.

# **12.** Election of the Vice-Chair of the Executive Board and welcoming the new Board Chair

The Board elected by acclamation Maria Luisa Escorel De Moraes (Brazil) as Vice-Chair to serve in an individual and personal capacity for a period of three years, commencing from the end of the 32nd meeting (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R7). The Board thanked Sarah Boulton for her service and active engagement as Vice-Chair over recent years.

This was the final meeting for Marta Maurás Pérez as Chair of the Executive Board and members voted a Resolution to formally thank and acknowledge her contribution and support. The Board also welcomed Marisol Touraine as she prepared to take up her functions as Chair of the Executive Board (UNITAID/EB32/2019/R8).

# 13. Closure of the Executive Board meeting

Marta Maurás Pérez closed the 32nd meeting of the Executive Board at 17h00.

# **List of Participants**

### **Executive Board Members and delegations**

#### **Executive Board Chair**

Marta Mauras Unitaid Board Chair

**Rosalia Framil** Advisor to the Chair Email: maurasm@unitaid.who.int

Email: framilr@unitaid.who.int

**Incoming Executive Board Chair (Elect)** 

Marisol Touraine Unitaid Board Chair-Elect

Marlon Camps Assistant to Board Chair-Elect

#### **AFRICAN COUNTRIES**

Mohamed Amine Boukhris Counsellor Permanent mission of the Kingdom of Morocco to the UN

Email: tourainem@unitaid.who.int

Email: campsm@unitaid.who.int

Email: <u>boukhris@mission-maroc.ch</u>

Safiatou Diaz Simpore Focal Point

BRAZIL

Julio Croda Director of the Department of Surveillance and other Communicable Diseases of the Ministry of Health

Luís Henrique Sobreira Lopes Ambassador of Brazil to the Republic of Korea

Paulo Cypriano Minister-Counselor, Embassy of Brazil to the Republic of Korea

**Luis Henrique Sacchi Guadagnin** Head of the Political Section, Embassy of Brazil to the Republic of Korea Email: <a href="mailto:safiatouosimpore@gmail.com">safiatouosimpore@gmail.com</a>

Email: julio.croda@saude.gov.br

# <u>CHILE</u>

<b>Carla Serazzi</b> Deputy Permanent Representative Permanent Mission of Chile to the UN	Email: <u>cserazzi@minrel.gob.cl</u>
H.E. Luis Fernando Danus Charpentier Ambassador of Chile to the Republic of Korea	
COMMUNITIES LIVING WITH THE DISEASES	
<b>Kenly Sikwese</b> Programme Coordinator African Community Advisory Board (AFROCAB)	Email: <u>ksikwese@gmail.com</u>
<b>Violeta Gracia Ross Quiroga</b> (a.i. Alternate Board Member) Executive Director, REDBOL	Email: graciavioleta@gmail.com
<b>Wim Vandevelde</b> Liaison Officer Global Network of People Living with HIV (GNP+)	Email: <u>wvandevelde@gnpplus.net</u>
<u>Other delegation members:</u> Anatoli Leshanok Belarusian Community of PLWH	Email: <a href="mailto:lesshe311@gmail.com">lesshe311@gmail.com</a>
<b>Mercy Annapoorany</b> Executive Director, Blossom Trust	Email: mercyannapoorani@gmail.com
Nelson Otwoma National Coordinator, NEPHAK, Kenya	Email: <u>nelsonotwoma@gmail.com</u>
FOUNDATIONS (BILL & MELINDA GATES FOUNDATION)	
Jessica Jones Associate Program Officer, Integrated Delivery Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation	Email: jessica.jones@gatesfoundation.org
Jamie Morris Divisional Chief Financial Officer - Global Development and Global Growth & Opportunity Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation	Email: jamie.morris@gatesfoundation.org
<u>France</u>	
<b>Stéphanie Seydoux</b> Ambassador for Global Health Ministry of Europe and Foreign Affairs	Email: <u>stephanie.seydoux@diplomatie.gouv.fr</u>

**Catherine Dauphin-LLorens** UNITAID – Accès aux médicaments Ministry of Europe and Foreign Affairs Email: <u>catherine.dauphin-</u> <u>llorens@diplomatie.gouv.fr</u>

H.E. M. Fabien PENONE Embassy of France to the Republic of Korea

**David Péneau** Counsellor Embassy of France to the Republic of Korea

#### **NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS**

Fifa Rahman Health Poverty Action

**Rohit Malpani** Health Action International

**Courtenay HOWE** Stop Aids UK, Liaison Officer

Other delegation members: Diarmaid McDonald Just Treatment

Sonal Indravadan MEHTA CEO Alliance India

Philip Waweru MBUGUA Executive Director, NOPE

Mogha Kamal-Yanni

Heejeong Han Korean Advocates for Global Health

#### <u>Norway</u>

**Bjørg Sandkjær** Senior Adviser Global Health Initiatives Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation Email: fifarahman@outlook.com

Email: romalpani@gmail.com

Email: <a href="mailto:courtenay@stopaids.org.uk">courtenay@stopaids.org.uk</a>

Email: diarmaid@justtreatment.org.uk

Email: smehta@allianceindia.org

Email: pmbugua@nope.or.ke

Email: mohgaky@gmail.com

Email: han.heejeong@gmail.com

Email: bjorg.sandkjaer@norad.no

#### **REPUBLIC OF KOREA**

#### Hyunjoo Oh

Director-General for Development Cooperation Ministry of Foreign Affairs

#### Ok Park

Director, Division of Risk Assessment and International Cooperation

Other delegation members:

#### Jeong-sik Kang

Deputy Minister Ministry of Foreign Affairs

#### **Ganglip Kim**

Vice-Minister Ministry of Health and Welfare

#### Sejoo Nah

Second Secretary, Multilateral Development Cooperation and Humanitarian Assistance Division, Ministry of Foreign Affairs

#### Jihuin Kang

Second Secretary, Multilateral Development Cooperation and Humanitarian Assistance Division, Ministry of Foreign Affairs

#### **Grace Park**

Deputy Director, Division of Risk Assessment & International Cooperation, Korea Centers for Disease Control & Prevention (KCDC)

#### Erica Lee

Division Director, Division of Risk assessment & International Cooperation, Korea Centers for Disease Control & Prevention (KCDC)

#### Hyunwon Kim

Director General, Global Disease Eradication Fund Department, Korea International Cooperation Agency (KOICA)

#### Sooyeon Song

Health Specialist, Global Disease Eradication Fund Department, Korea International Cooperation Agency (KOICA) Email: hjoh94@mofa.go.kr

Email: okpark8932@gmail.com

Email: sjnah06@mofa.go.kr

Email: jhkang17@mofa.go.kr

Email: gracepark0212@korea.kr

Email: Byuly74@korea.kr

Email: kimhw@koica.go.kr

Email: songs@koica.go.kr

#### <u>SPAIN</u>

Martin Remon Miranzo Counsellor Permanent Mission of Spain to the UN in Geneva

**Dr Miguel Casado Gómez** Head of health team Ministry of Foreign Affairs

#### UNITED KINGDOM

Sarah Boulton Global Health Funds Team Leader Department for International Development, DFID

James Droop Senior Adviser, Global Funds Department Department for International Development, DFID

#### <u>WHO</u>

Issa Matta Senior Legal Officer Email: mattai@who.int

Email: manabu.sumi@mofa.go.jp

Email: martin.remon@maec.es

Email: miguel.casado@maec.es

Email: s-boulton@dfid.gov.uk

Email: j-droop@dfid.gov.uk

#### **INVITED GUESTS**

#### JAPAN

Manabu Sumi Director, Global Health Policy Division International Cooperation Bureau Ministry of Foreign Affairs

#### THE GLOBAL FUND

**Philippe François** Head of Sourcing and Supply Chain Department Email: philippe.francois@theglobalfund.org

#### SECRETARIAT

Lelio Marmora	Email: marmoral@unitaid.who.int
Executive Director	
Philippe Duneton	Email: <u>dunetonp@unitaid.who.int</u>
Deputy Executive Director	
Vincent Bretin	Email: <u>bretinv@unitaid.who.int</u>
Director of Results	
David Curry	Email: <u>curryd@unitaid.who.int</u>
Director of Finance	
Mauricio Cysne	Email: <u>cysnem@unitaid.who.int</u>
Director of External Relations	

**Janet Ginnard** Email: ginnardj@unitaid.who.int **Director of Strategy Robert Matiru** Email: matirur@unitaid.who.int **Director of Operations** Sanne Wendes Email: wendess@unitaid.who.int Chief of Staff Serena Cungi Email: cungis@unitaid.who.int Assistant, Executive Office **Martin Harvey Allchurch** Email: <u>harveym@unitaid.who.int</u> Governance and Board Relations Manager Sonia Hilton Email: hiltons@unitaid.who.int Senior Legal Officer **Oksana Koval** Email: kovalo@unitaid.who.int **Governance Officer Charlotte Kristiansson** Email: kristianssonc@unitaid.who.int Team Lead, Operations **Anna Laura Ross** Email: aross@unitaid.who.int Technical Manager, Strategy **Timothy Ryan** Email: ryant@unitaid.who.int Grant Performance Manager, Operations Laetitia Sieffert Email: sieffertl@unitaid.who.int **Partnerships Officer**